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World

BIAS Short Duration Income Fund

A convenient and efficient vehicle for investing in high 
quality money market and short duration income producing 
instruments denominated in US dollars which offer liquidity, low 
risk and attractive returns consistent with prudent investment 
management.

Suitable for captive insurers and those with a very low risk 
tolerance or a short time horizon.

BIAS Global Balanced Fund

Invests in a mixture of money market, fixed income, and equity 
securities with the objective of providing out performance 
through strategic and tactical asset class shifts. A top-down 
macroeconomic approach is employed with weightings 
determined by the expected returns and risks within each asset 
class.   

Suitable for conservative to moderate investors who seek 
medium to long-term real capital appreciation whilst minimizing 
risk through asset class diversification.

BIAS Global Equities Fund

The manager seeks to maximize long-term capital appreciation 
via investment in a diverse mix of global securities.  A strict 
top-down approach is applied with a focus on macroeconomic 
analysis.  Strategic allocations are made in various geographic, 
sector, style, and market capitalizations to exploit long-term 
trends and minimize risk.  

Suitable for investors who have a higher tolerance for risk and a 
long time horizon.

Simplifying a
Choices: of Investment 

World

<1yr>                    2% 
1-3yr                   69%

1-5yr                      18%

CPI FRN                   9%

Cash                     2%

Cash                     4%
Fixed Income    37%
Equities                59%

North America    51%

Europe                24%
Smaller Asia          6%
Japan                5% 
Latin America       7%
Australia                5%
Other                     2%

 low                                          high

low                                          high

low                                          high

Listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange. 

As of December 31st, 2009
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BIAS GLOBAL PORTFOLIOS, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ SEGREGATED PORTFOLIO

INVESTMENT POLICY

The objective of the Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”) is to offer a convenient and efficient vehicle for investing in high quality money 
market and short duration income producing instruments denominated in US dollars which offer liquidity, low risk and attractive returns 
consistent with prudent investment management.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the years ended 31st December 2009 and 2008. 
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $104.23 as at December 31st 2008 to $108.25 as at 31st December 2009 rep-
resenting a total return after fees of 3.86% for the 2009 calendar year.  This return compares favourably to the Fund’s benchmark, the 
Citigroup 1-3 Year Treasury Index, which returned 0.72%.

The net asset value of the Fund grew steadily over the year to $40.3 million as at 31st December 2009 from $15.3 million at the beginning 
of the year.  The managers ensured that the Fund maintained adequate liquidity through holding a substantial portion of the Fund’s as-
sets in highly liquid US Treasury securities.

ANNUAL REVIEW

The Fund began the year with 62 percent of its assets in US Treasuries, providing liquidity and safety in the wake of the turmoil following 
the Lehman bankruptcy. Over the course of the year we gradually reduced the Fund’s Treasury holdings in favour of supranational bonds 
and high-rated corporate bonds, taking advantage of the extra yield these provided compared to Treasuries.  In Fourth Quarter 2009 we 
started ‘riding the yield curve’ i.e. selling shorter-dated bonds and buying bonds maturing in 4-5 years to pick up extra yield.  Also, we 
initiated a small Canadian dollar bond position in October as we believed a global recovery would benefit commodity economies such 
as Canada.  Our forecast proved correct as the Canadian loonie outperformed the US dollar since our purchase date.

Overall, the Fund outperformed its benchmark by 314 bps in 2009 as corporate bonds outperformed the broad Treasury market on 
increased risk appetite. 

OUTLOOK

We believe the portfolio is very well positioned as we begin 2010 but will consider modestly increasing the portfolio’s average duration 
on any significant yield increases along the curve.  ‘Riding out the curve’ will continue to be a good strategy in light of the steep yield 
curve and the low risk of significant rate increases in the US.  We see the Federal Reserve as being on hold throughout most of 2010 as 
the rate of economic growth in the US and the rest of the OECD ultimately begins to level off, inflation stays benign and employment 
remains sluggish.  Our reduced weighting in US Treasuries in favour of debt issued by corporate America – which in many cases has 
healthier balance sheets than Uncle Sam – should also be helpful.  These strategies along with maintaining a longer duration than the 
Fund’s benchmark should provide superior performance.

Robert R. Pires

Chairman
BIAS Global Portfolios SPC
BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio
30th April 2010



low                                        high

Short Duration Income Fund US$

For more information on any of our funds, contact your investment advisor or download a prospectus, which contains important information about a fund’s investment goals, sales 

charges, expenses and risks. Please read the prospectus carefully before investing.   As of December 31st, 2009

A convenient and efficient vehicle for investing in high 
quality money market and short duration income producing 
instruments denominated in US dollars which offer liquidity, 
low risk and attractive returns consistent with prudent 
investment management.

Suitable for those with a very low risk tolerance or short 
time horizon.

Fund Information

Inception Date December 29, 2006

Base Currency $USD

Benchmark Citigroup 1-3yr 
Tres Index

NAV per share $108.25

Subscriptions/Redemptions Weekly

Management Fee 0.40% 

Key Statistics

Modified Duration 2.01

Average Credit AA+

Gross YTW 2.42%

Gross Current Yield 3.97%

Number of Holdings 62

AUM $40,318,058

Management Commentary

Current Strategy Allocation Risk Rating

Credit Ratings

<1yr>                              2%

1-3yr                          69%

3-5yr                          18%

CPI FRN                           9%

Cash                          2%

AA-                       7%

AA                             12%
AA+                  4%

AAA                  69%

The BIAS Short Duration Income Fund outperformed its 
US Treasury benchmark over the Fourth Quarter as credit 
spreads narrowed further and higher coupons were paid on 
premium bond issues.  Surprisingly strong economic news 
and concern over public debt refinancing drove ten-year 
Treasury yields up to their highest level since August.  Late 
in the quarter the fund initiated a three percent position in 
Canadian dollar bonds to earn a slight yield pick up over US 
rates and to benefit from an expected upward move in the 
currency.

A                         4%
A+                                 2%

BBB-                2%

Performance
Performance          Q4/09         1-Year         2-Year         Since Incept.
                                                                                                   Annualized)          (Annualized)

Short Duration      1.05%          3.86%        2.49%            2.67%  

Benchmark            0.01%          0.72%           3.61%            4.79%               

Top Holdings

US Treasury Note    4.50%      Due 30 Apr 2010 4.01%

US Treasury Note    4.625%    Due 31 Jul 2012 2.96%

US Treasury Note    4.875%    Due 30 Jun 2012 2.70%

Canadian Gov.       5.250%    Due 01 Jun 2012 2.70%

Pfizer Inc.                  4.45%       Due 15 Mar 2012 2.70%
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May 10, 2010 May 10, 2010

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

           2009             2008 
                     Note     US$                    US$

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents        3                       1,330,727                             186,486

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss                  4             38,718,558                    15,018,169         
 (Cost 2009: US$38,742,317; 2008: US$15,487,836)

Interest and other income receivable                                    382,177                   192,515
Subscriptions receivable                                                                                                                    49,500                                          - 

Other assets                                         19,782                25,733 

 Total Assets                                  US$ 40,500,744            US$ 15,422,903

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expences       7                 62,998            62,486

Redemptions payable                      119,688           20,830

 Total Liabilities                     182,686            83,316

NET ASSETS REPRESENTING UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY                                         US$  40,318,058        US$  15,339,587

Units outstanding        6                          372,450                          147,174

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT           US$  108.25                 US$  104.23

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Approved by the Directors:

__________________________  , Director    __________________________  , Director

__________________________  , Date    __________________________  , Date 
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 2009  2008
    Note US$  US$

INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest income  1,028,193 624,083 
Dividends and other income  - 6,968 
Net realised (loss) gain on sale of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss  (314,798) 61,652
Movement in unrealised gain (loss) on financial assets
 at fair value through profit or loss  445,908 (394,157) 
    _________ _________

  Total investment income  1,159,303 298,546 
    _________ _________
    

EXPENSES
Management fees 7 101,027 53,957 
Custody and administration fees 7 46,273 29,771 
Directors’ fees 7 8,333 6,667 
Other general expenses  42,504 58,640 
    _________ _________

  Total expenses  198,137 149,035 
    _________ _________

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS FROM OPERATIONS  US$ 961,166 US$ 149,511 
    _________ _________  
   
    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Operations
(Expressed in United States dollars)
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Changes in Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 2009 2008
  US$ US$

Net assets, beginning of year  15,339,587 12,277,694 

Increase in net assets from operations  961,166 149,511 

Unit capital transactions
   Proceeds from the subscriptions of units  29,920,105 7,129,344 
   Payments on redemption of units  (5,902,800) (4,216,962) 
    _________ _________

    24,017,305 2,912,382 
    _________ _________

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR  US$ 40,318,058 US$ 15,339,587 
    _________ _________

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in United States dollars)

   2009 2008
   US$ US$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in net assets from operations  961,166 149,511  
     
 Net purchase of financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
  through profit or loss  (23,700,389) (2,907,900) 
 Interest and other income receivable  (189,662) (71,313) 
 Other assets  5,951 4,400 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  512 (6,632) 
    ________ ________

Net cash used by operating activities  (22,922,422) (2,831,934) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of units  29,870,605 7,129,344 
Payments on redemption of units  (5,803,942) (4,198,334) 
    ________ ________

Net cash provided by financing activities  24,066,663 2,931,010  

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   1,144,241 99,076  
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 186,486 87,410  
  
    ________ ________

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  US$ 1,330,727 US$ 186,486  
      ________ ________
    
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

1. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FUND

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) established BIAS Short Duration Income Fund (the “Fund”), a seg-
regated portfolio of assets, on December 15, 2006.  The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006.  
The Company is incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio 
company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2007 Revision).  The address of its registered office 
is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, 
Cayman Islands.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective.  The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company 
are not included in these financial statements.  BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the “Investment Manager”), a relat-
ed party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager under the Investment Management 
Agreement.  The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to delegate its duties to Bermuda Invest-
ment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”).  Pershing LLC acts as the Fund’s Custodian, and Cayman 
National Trust Co. Ltd. (“Cayman National”) acts as the Fund’s Administrator.

The objective of the Fund is to offer a vehicle for investing in high quality money market and short duration 
income producing instruments denominated in United States (“US”) dollars, which offer liquidity, low risk and 
attractive returns consistent with prudent investment management.

The Fund had no employees during the year.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below:

Basis of preparation(a) 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  IFRS that are not relevant to the Fund 
have not been disclosed.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial statements are presented in US dollars and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting 
the fact that the Fund’s issued share capital, assets and liabilities are dominated in US dollars.

The statements of net assets presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and does not distin-
guish between current and non-current items. All the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the purpose of be-
ing traded or are expected to be realised within one year.

Adoption of relevant new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009(i) 

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are 
mandatory for the Fund’s accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008.  The relevant standards to the 
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Adoption of relevant new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009 (continued)(i) 

Fund are as follows:
Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – improving disclosures about financial instruments;•	
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements; and•	
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements •	
– Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation.

The principal effect of these changes is as follows:

IAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2009)
The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes 
in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity. It requires non-owner changes in equity to be presented sepa-
rately from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity are required to be shown in a performance 
statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of compre-
hensive income) or two statements (the income statement and statement of comprehensive income).

Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information, they are required to present a restated statement of 
net assets as at the beginning comparative period, in addition to the current requirement to present statements 
of net assets at the end of the current period and comparative period. The standard includes additional sug-
gested terminology changes to the financial statements. The Directors opted to leave the financial statements 
terminology unchanged and also opted to keep income and expenses in one statement.

IAS 32 (amendment), Financial instruments: Presentation’, and IAS 1 (amendment), Presentation of financial statements – 
Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective from 1 January 2009)
The amended standards require entities to classify puttable financial instruments, or components of instruments 
that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity 
only on liquidation as equity, provided the financial instruments have particular features and meet specific con-
ditions, including that all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other instru-
ments have identical features. 

The share classes of the Fund do not have ‘identical features’ and therefore do not comply with the requirements 
of IAS 32 para 16A(c). The adoption of these amendments has not therefore resulted in any change in the clas-
sification of the Fund’s redeemable shares. 

Other amendments have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been (ii) 
adopted early by the Fund

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Fund.
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been (ii) 
adopted early by the Fund (continued) 

The Directors anticipate that all of the applicable pronouncements will be adopted in the Fund accounting poli-
cies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Fund’s financial statements is provided 
below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement (effective from January 1, 2013)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and will later be expanded to add new requirements for the classification and measurement of finan-
cial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments and impairment. By its effective date, IFRS 9 will have 
replaced IAS 39.  This change is not expected to affect the financial position or results of the Fund but will 
give rise to additional disclosures. 

Annual improvements 2009
'Improvements to IFRS’ were issued in April 2009 and contain numerous amendments to IFRS, which the IASB con-
sider non-urgent but necessary. ‘Improvements to IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes 
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes as well as terminology or editorial amendments related 
to a variety of individual standards. Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009 and 1 January 2010 respectively, with earlier application permitted. No material changes to 
accounting policies are expected as a result of these amendments.

Investment income / expense(b) 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported net of non-reclaimable withholding tax.  
Bank interest income and expense is accounted for on an accruals basis.  

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss(c) 

Classification(i) 

In accordance with IAS 39, all investments are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, under the sub-category of financial assets and liabilities held for trading.

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost and include interest and divi-
dends receivable, subscriptions receivable and other assets.  Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit 
or loss are carried at amortized cost and include accounts payable and accrued expenses and redemptions payable.
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2.     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) (c) 

Recognition/derecognition(ii) 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Fund commits to 
purchase or sell the investment. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership.

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out basis (“FIFO”) 
and are included in the statement of operations. Unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the statement of operations.

Measurement(iii) 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs are expensed in the statement of operations. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.  Gains and losses aris-
ing from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” 
category are presented in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise. 

Fair value estimation(iv) 

The Fund’s investments are valued on the Friday of each week (the “valuation date”).  Investments held that are 
traded in an active market are valued at their last trade prices through recognised public stock exchanges or 
through recognised investment dealers on the valuation date.  There were no financial instruments for which 
quotations were not readily available in active markets during any of the periods presented.

Operating expenses(d) 
The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments.  

Cash and cash equivalents(e) 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and balances held with the investment broker.

Foreign currency(f ) 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than United States Dollars are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to United States 
Dollars at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the 
statement of operations.
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

2.     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Use of estimates(g) 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Fund’s accounting 
policies.  The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. Management does not believe that the estimates and as-
sumptions have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
     2009 2008

 US$ US$

Cash at bank   282 347  
 Cash at broker   94,943 186,139

Money market at broker   1,235,502 - 
    ________ ________

    US$ 1,330,727 US$ 186,486  
     ________ ________

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 
       2009 2008
       US$ US$
 
 Held for trading:
  Fixed income securities  US$ 38,718,558 US$ 15,018,169 
       __________ __________ 

Per IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”), investments in listed securities should 
be valued at the bid price where there is an active market.  The Directors do not consider the difference in the 
valuation methods as outlined in note 2 and the valuation method under IAS 39 to be material to the financial 
statements and consequently have not adjusted the financial statements for such.

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowl-
edgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, interest and other income receivable, subscriptions receivable, 
other assets and accounts payable and redemptions payable are considered to approximate their fair values as 
these items are short term in nature.  
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and information about 
financial instruments.  These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of signifi-
cant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision.  Changes in assumptions could significantly 
affect the estimates.

The Fund adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - improving disclosures about 
financial instruments, effective from January 1, 2009.  These amendments require the Fund to present certain 
information about financial instruments measured at fair value in the statements of net assets.

This hierarchy groups financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into three levels based on the signifi-
cance of inputs used in measuring the fair value.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

 - Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 - Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
 - Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable in  
  puts).

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of sig-
nificant input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the statements of net assets are grouped into the fair value hierar-
chy as follows:

 2009 2008
 US$ US$

      
Level 2 – Other than quoted prices  US$ 38,718,558 US$ 15,018,169
    __________ __________

6. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Fund has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Accumulation (A) Shares (“Class A”) and Income (I) 
Shares (“Class I”) (together the “Shares”) in the Fund.  At December 31, 2009, no Class I shares were in issue.

Each unit represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as declared 
payable.  An unlimited number of the Fund’s units may be issued which are redeemable each Monday at the 
unitholders’ option at the then current Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per unit, in accordance with the terms of the 
Information Memorandum.

 



16

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Short Duration Income Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

6. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

 The following is a summary of the changes in the Fund’s outstanding units during the period:

       2009 2008
        
 
 Units, beginning of year   147,174 119,147 
 Subscriptions     280,527 68,463 
 Redemptions     (55,251) (40,436) 
        __________ __________ 
      
 Units, end of year     372,450 147,174  
            __________ __________
            

7. FEES AND EXPENSES

 Management fees
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day business of the Fund, including managing 
the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the investment of as-
sets of the Fund.  The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the Investment Manager for its 
services to the Fund equal to 0.40% per annum of the NAV of the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly.  
During the year ended December 31, 2009, management fees earned were US$101,027 (2008: US$53,957).  As of 
December 31, 2009, accounts payable and accrued expenses includes US$32,305 (2008: US$39,190) payable to 
the Investment Manager.

Administration fees
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of US$30,000.  The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly.

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund.

Custody fees
The Custodian is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.05% per annum based on the average weekly NAV of the 
Fund.  The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly.

Directors’ fees
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat an-
nual fee for serving in such capacity.  The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ fees.  
The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by 
them on behalf of the Fund.
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For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

8. INCOME TAXES

The Company is incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio 
company under the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciations in value of the Fund.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy.  These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price risk and interest rate risk), liquid-
ity risk and credit risk.  The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment returns on its 
portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets.  The Investment 
Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on the Fund’s per-
formance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is consistent with the 
Fund’s investment objective and policy. 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below.
 

Market Price Risk (a) 

Market price risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

The Fund’s assets consist of fixed income bonds the values of which are determined by market forces and there 
is accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a way that is adverse to the Fund’s performance.  An  
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of fixed income securities as at the reporting date would have  
increased or decreased net assets by US$387,186 (2008: US$150,182). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily basis and 
reports regularly to the Board of Directors, which reviews the information on the Fund’s overall market exposures 
provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk can be seen per the 
Statements of Net Assets.

Market Interest Rate Risk(b) 

Market interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents and fixed income financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
interest bearing instruments.  The Fund’s other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below:
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Market Interest Rate Risk (continued)

 2009
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,330,727 - 1,330,727
 Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 38,718,558 - 38,718,558 
 Other assets - 451,459 451,459
 Liabilities - (182,686) (182,686)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 40,049,285 US$ 268,773 US$ 40,318,058
  _________ _________ _________
 
 2008
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 186,486 - 186,486
 Financial assets at fair value through
 profit or loss 15,018,169 - 15,018,169 
 Other assets - 218,248 218,248
 Liabilities - (83,316) (83,316)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 15,204,655 US$ 134,932 US$ 15,339,587
  _________ _________ _________

An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased or 
decreased net assets by US$400,493 (2008: US$152,047). 

Liquidity Risk(c) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities as they fall due.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Fund’s financial assets significantly outweigh the financial liabilities and 
investments held are liquid in nature.  All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the balance 
sheet date.  As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of liquidity risk.  
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with a reputable financial institution.  Management regularly 
monitors the institution’s credit risk and does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration.  Fur-
thermore, the Fund only invests in investment grade fixed-income securities.

 The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is detailed in the table below:

At December 31, 2009   
   Past due / 
  Not past due / impaired but 
  impaired renegotiated Total
  US$ US$ US$
 
 Cash and cash equivalents 1,330,727 - 1,330,727
 Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss 38,718,558 - 38,718,558
 Interest and other income receivable 382,177 - 382,177
 Other assets 69,282 - 69,282
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 40,500,744 US$             - US$ 40,500,744
  _________ _________ _________

(e) Regulatory Environment Risk

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities laws, 
bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or unprofitable.  
The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands Fund will depend 
upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman Islands law and, in particular, 
the Mutual Funds Law (2009 revised).

(f ) Dependence on the Investment Manager Risk

 The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund.  The success of the Fund depends 
upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the 
Fund’s investment objectives.
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10. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to unitholders. The amount of net assets at-
tributable to unitholders can change significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions 
and redemptions at the discretion of the Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the 
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for unitholders and benefits for other stake-
holders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund’s policy is to perform the following:

Monitor the level of weekly subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets and adjust the amount •	
of distributions the Fund pays to unitholders 

The Board of Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attribut-
able to unitholders.

11. DIRECTOR INTERESTS

As at December 31, 2009, the Directors of the Fund held no shares in the Fund.

12. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events occurring after the reporting date.  





22

BIAS GLOBAL PORTFOLIOS, SPC
GLOBAL BALANCED FUND – SEGREGATED PORTFOLIO

INVESTMENT POLICY

The Segregated Portfolio (“the Fund”) holds a portfolio of global equities or limited partnership interests together with money market 
instruments, corporate bonds and Eurobonds of issuers throughout the world, government bonds of countries that are members of the 
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) and other income producing securities.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the years ended 31st December 2009 and 2008.  
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $81.82 as at 31st December 2008 to $97.64 as at 31st December 2009.

This increase in value represents a total return after fees for the Fund of +19.34% for the 2009 calendar year compared with the Fund’s 
benchmark which is a combination of the FTSE-A World Equity Index (which rose 30.53%), the Citigroup 1-3 Year Treasury Index (up 
0.72%) and the Citigroup 3-7 Year Treasury Index (down 1.65%).  The combined benchmark returned +18.15% in 2009.  

The total assets of the Fund grew to $30.53 million at 31st December 2009 (versus $19.05 million in 2008) as new investor funds 
were added to the Balanced Fund.  The managers moved fund additions into strategic asset classes and individual security positions  
consistent with strategic allocation decisions and our outlook for the capital markets at the time.

ANNUAL REVIEW

Following a sharp sell-off early in the year, global stock markets rebounded steadily through year-end as central banks around the world 
primed the monetary pump through ultra-low interest rates and outright purchases of financial assets.  After reaching a six-year low on 
March 9th, the FTSE World global stock market index commenced an almost uninterrupted rally for the balance of the year, taking the aver-
age to a new twelve month high, just shy of the level seen prior to Lehman Brother’s historical collapse in September of 2008.  Along with 
renewed enthusiasm for equities, investors became increasingly comfortable with credit markets, bidding up corporate bonds of all ratings.  
By year end, a significant decline in credit spreads resulted in better bids on most corporate bonds and other credit-related securities.

For the equities component, the Fund’s regional allocations contributed significantly to relative investment performance.  The equity 
strategy within the fund was positioned overweight the US, Emerging Asia, and the resource markets (Australia, Brazil and Canada) which 
outperformed and was underweight Europe and Japan which both underperformed.   Individual equities within the account also fared 
well as our quantitative discipline and focus on higher yielding stocks boosted performance.

At the beginning of 2009, the Balanced Fund took a cautious approach.  The fund was allocated 47% equities compared to 60% at the 
start of the year.  This positioning proved particularly timely in the first few months of the year as financial markets fell.  In the spring, 
global stock markets then began to recover after central banks everywhere stepped in to ‘ring fence’ bad loans, reduced interest rates, 
and bought financial assets directly in market to support the financial system.  We responded strategically to the new environment by 
becoming more aggressive; we increased our allocations to both equities and non-government debt.  By year end, the Balanced Fund 
had increased the equity exposure to 58 percent of  total assets.

OUTLOOK

On the fixed income side, we believe the portfolio is well positioned as we begin 2010.  Last year we moved many of our US Treasuries 
into high grade corporate bonds which have recently shown improved price stability in addition to providing higher yields.  Due to the 
massive issuance of sovereign debt globally and rising fiscal budget deficits in the developed world, we are finding that many world-
class multinational corporations are in better shape than the average OECD government. On the equity side, we anticipate a prolonged 
consolidation period in the capital markets following last year’s big resurgence and are becoming more opportunistic.  To profit from 
the choppier environment, we are overweighting the health care industry, the energy sector and focusing our individual stock picks on 
high-dividend-paying companies and world-class innovators. 

 

 

Robert R. Pires

Chairman
BIAS Global Portfolios SPC
BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio
30th April 2010
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For more information on any of our funds, contact your investment advisor or download a prospectus, which contains important information about a fund’s investment 
goals, sales charges, expenses and risks. Please read the prospectus carefully before investing.   As of December 31st, 2009

Risk Rating

Invests in a mixture of money market, fixed income, and equity 
securities with the objective of providing out performance 
through strategic and tactical asset class shifts. A top-down 
macroeconomic approach is employed with weightings 
determined by the expected risks and returns within each 
asset class.   

Suitable for conservative to moderate investors who seek 
medium to long-term real capital appreciation while  minimizing 
risk through asset class diversification.

The BIAS Global Balanced Fund outperformed its stated 
benchmark index in the Fourth Quarter and over the 2009 
calendar year.  The bond portion of the fund showed strong 
performance as spreads on most corporate securities 
narrowed further and higher coupons were earned 
on premium bond issues.  Within the equity strategy, 
our overweight positions in Brazil, Canada, and US 
multinationals boosted performance even as we realized 
profits in the best performing regions.  Over the quarter 
the fund remained slightly more conservative than its 
benchmark, maintaining an average 57 percent weighting 
to equities versus the 60 percent target.

Cash                        5%
Fixed Income         37%
Equities                   58%

Fund Information

Inception Date December 29, 2006

Base Currency $USD

Benchmark Blended Composite*

NAV per share $97.64

Subscriptions/Redemption Weekly

Management Fee 1.15%

Current Strategy Allocation

* 60% FTSE World Equity / 20% Citigroup 1-3 Yr treas Index 
/20% Citigroup 3-7 Yr treas Index 

Management Commentary

Top Holdings

 iShares S&P GSCI Software Index Fund 2.99%

Procter & Gamble 4.95% 08/15/2014 2.97%

European Invest Bank 6% 08/14/2016 2.75%

SPDR S&P Emerging Asia Pacific Index Fund 2.69%

Vanguard Global Enhanced Equity Fund 2.63%

Key Statistics

Number of Holdings 93

AUM $30,527,058

Standard Deviation 12.01

Sharpe Ratio -0.19

Bond Key Statistics

Modified Duration 2.31 years

Average Credit AA 

Gross YTW 3.53%

Gross Current Yield 4.17%

Performance

Performance      Q4/08        1-Year         2-Year           Since Incept.
                                                                        (Annualized)    (Annualized)

Balanced Fund   4.22%       19.34%       -4.51%              -0.79%  

Benchmark         2.38%     18.15%       -5.39%              -0.79%               
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 2009 2008
Note   US$ US$

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,278,874 47,506 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 29,272,229 18,904,233
 (Cost 2009: US$28,907,799; 2008: US$23,788,771)
Interest and other income receivable  130,192 110,781 
Other assets  8,700 9,676 
    ________ ________

Total assets  US$ 30,689,995 US$ 19,072,196  
 ________ ________

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7 62,756 56,480 
Redemptions payable  100,181 - 
    ________ ________

 Total liabilities  162,937 56,480  
    ________ ________

NET ASSETS REPRESENTING UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY  US$ 30,527,058 US$ 19,015,716
 ________ ________

Units outstanding 6 312,658 232,420
    ________ ________ 

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT  US$ 97.64 US$ 81.82 
    ________ ________

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Approved by Directors:

_________________________             _________________________
Director                                            Director

May 10, 2010  May 10, 2010 _________________________             _________________________
Date                                           Date 
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Operations
(Expressed in United States dollars)

        2009 2008
   Note US$  US$

INVESTMENT INCOME (LOSS)
Interest income  391,361 424,037
Dividends and other income  265,218 188,418
Net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss  (1,278,868) (332,012)
Movement in unrealised gain (loss) on financial assets
 at fair value through profit or loss  5,248,968 (5,163,410)
    _________ _________

  Total investment income (loss)  4,626,679 (4,882,967)
    _________ _________
    

EXPENSES
Management fees 7 261,910 223,732
Custody and administration fees 7 53,529 47,736
Directors’ fees 7 8,335 6,665
Other general expenses  57,645 60,656
    _________ _________

  Total expenses  381,419 338,789
    _________ _________

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 
      FROM OPERATIONS  US$  4,245,260 US$  (5,221,756) 
    _________ _________  
   
    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Change in Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 2009 2008
  US$ US$

Net assets, beginning of year  19,015,716 14,413,275
     
Increase (decrease) in net assets from operations  4,245,260 (5,221,756)
     
Unit capital transactions
   Proceeds from the subscriptions of units  11,025,923 12,034,810
   Payments on redemption of units  (3,759,841) (2,210,613)
    _________ _________

    7,266,082 9,824,197 
    _________ _________

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR  US$ 30,527,058 US$ 19,015,716 
    _________ _________

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in United States dollars)

   2009 2008
   US$ US$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in net assets from operations  4,245,260 (5,221,756)  
    
 Net purchase of financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
  through profit or loss  (10,367,996) (5,167,648)
 Interest and other income receivable  (19,411) (54,154)  
 Other assets  976 (610) 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  6,276 (16,613)  
    
    ________ ________

Net cash used by operating activities  (6,134,895) (10,460,781) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of units  11,025,923 11,594,922
Payments on redemption of units  (3,659,660) (2,210,613)
    ________ ________

Net cash provided by financing activities  7,366,263 9,384,309 
 
 
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,231,368 (1,076,472)  
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 47,506 1,123,978  
 
    ________ ________

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  US$ 1,278,874 US$ 47,506 
    ________ ________
    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FUND1. 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) established BIAS Global Balanced Fund (the “Fund”), a segregated port-
folio of assets, on December 15, 2006.  The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006.  The Company is 
incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio company under the 
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2007 Revision).  The address of its registered office is Appleby Trust (Cayman) 
Ltd., Clifton House, Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective.  The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company 
are not included in these financial statements.  BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the “Investment Manager”), a relat-
ed party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager under the Investment Management 
Agreement.  The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to delegate its duties to Bermuda Invest-
ment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”).  Pershing LLC acts as the Fund’s Custodian, and Cayman 
National Trust Co. Ltd. (“Cayman National”) acts as the Fund’s Administrator.

The objective of the Fund is to achieve long-term capital growth in the value of assets.  The policy of the Invest-
ment Manager and Sub-Manager is to hold a portfolio of global equities or limited partnership interests together 
with money market instruments, corporate bonds and Eurobands of issuers throughout the world, government 
bonds of countries that are members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development and other 
income producing securities.

The Fund had no employees during the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES2. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below:

Basis of preparation(a) 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  IFRS that are not relevant to the Fund 
have not been disclosed.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial statements are presented in US dollars and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting 
the fact that the Fund’s issued share capital, assets and liabilities are dominated in US dollars.

The statements of net assets presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and does not distin-
guish between current and non-current items. All the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the purpose of be-
ing traded or are expected to be realised within one year.

Adoption of relevant new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009(i) 

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are 
mandatory for the Fund’s accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008.  
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. 

Adoption of relevant new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009 (continued)(i) 

The relevant standards to the Fund are as follows:
Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – improving disclosures about financial instru-•	
ments;
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements; and•	
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements •	
– Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation.

The principal effect of these changes is as follows:

IAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2009)
The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes 
in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity. It requires non-owner changes in equity to be presented sepa-
rately from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity are required to be shown in a performance 
statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of compre-
hensive income) or two statements (the income statement and statement of comprehensive income).

Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information, they are required to present a restated statement of 
net assets as at the beginning comparative period, in addition to the current requirement to present statements 
of net assets at the end of the current period and comparative period. The standard includes additional sug-
gested terminology changes to the financial statements. The Directors opted to leave the financial statements 
terminology unchanged and also opted to keep income and expenses in one statement.

IAS 32 (amendment), Financial instruments: Presentation’, and IAS 1 (amendment), Presentation of financial statements – 
Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective from 1 January 2009)
The amended standards require entities to classify puttable financial instruments, or components of instruments 
that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity 
only on liquidation as equity, provided the financial instruments have particular features and meet specific con-
ditions, including that all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other instru-
ments have identical features. 

The share classes of the Fund do not have ‘identical features’ and therefore do not comply with the requirements 
of IAS 32 para 16A(c). The adoption of these amendments has not therefore resulted in any change in the clas-
sification of the Fund’s redeemable shares. 

Other amendments have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been (ii) 
adopted early by the Fund

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Fund.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been (ii) 
adopted early by the Fund (continued) 

The Directors anticipate that all of the applicable pronouncements will be adopted in the Fund accounting poli-
cies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Fund’s financial statements is provided 
below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement (effective from January 1, 2013)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
(“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and will 
later be expanded to add new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, derecog-
nition of financial instruments and impairment. By its effective date, IFRS 9 will have replaced IAS 39.  This change is 
not expected to affect the financial position or results of the Fund but will give rise to additional disclosures. 

Annual improvements 2009
'Improvements to IFRS’ were issued in April 2009 and contain numerous amendments to IFRS, which the IASB con-
sider non-urgent but necessary. ‘Improvements to IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes 
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes as well as terminology or editorial amendments related 
to a variety of individual standards. Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009 and 1 January 2010 respectively, with earlier application permitted. No material changes to 
accounting policies are expected as a result of these amendments.

Investment income / expense(b) 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported net of non-reclaimable withholding tax.  
Bank interest income and expense is accounted for on an accruals basis.  

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss(c) 

Classification(i) 

In accordance with IAS 39, all investments are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, under the sub-category of financial assets and liabilities held for trading.

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost and include interest 
and dividends receivable, subscriptions receivable and other assets.  Financial liabilities that are not at fair value 
through profit or loss are carried at amortized cost and include accounts payable and accrued expenses and 
redemptions payable.

Recognition/derecognition(ii) 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Fund commits to 
purchase or sell the investment. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 



33

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Balanced Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)(c) 
Recognition/derecognition (continued)(ii) 

investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out basis (“FIFO”) 
and are included in the statement of operations. Unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the statement of operations.

Measurement(iii) 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs are expensed in the statement of operations. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.  Gains and losses aris-
ing from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” 
category are presented in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise. 

Fair value estimation(iv) 

The Fund’s investments are valued on the Friday of each week (the “valuation date”).  Investments held that are 
traded in an active market are valued at their last trade prices through recognised public stock exchanges or 
through recognised investment dealers on the valuation date.  There were no financial instruments for which 
quotations were not readily available in active markets during any of the periods presented.

Forward contracts(d) 
Forward contracts are recognised as gains and losses by marking to market on a daily basis to reflect the value 
of the contracts at the end of each day’s trading.  The Fund’s investment in contracts represented by unrealised 
gains or losses on the contracts is included in the statements of operations.

Operating expenses(e) 
The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments.  

Cash and cash equivalents(f ) 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and balances held with the investment broker.

Foreign currency(g) 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than United States Dollars are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to United States 
Dollars at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the 
statement of operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)2.  

Use of estimates(h) 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Fund’s accounting 
policies.  The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. Management does not believe that the estimates and as-
sumptions have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS3. 
     2009 2008

 US$ US$

Cash at bank   255 327 
Cash at broker   59,953 47,179
Money market at broker   1,218,666 -
    ________ ________

    US$ 1,278,874 US$  47,506  
     ________ ________

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS4. 
 
       2009 2008
       US$ US$
 
 Held for trading:
  Fixed income securities  10,760,308 9,632,362
  Mutual funds    2,427,363 1,621,606
  Equity securities   16,084,558 7,650,265
       __________ __________

       US$ 29,272,229 US$ 18,904,233
       __________ __________ 

Per IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”), investments in listed securities should 
be valued at the bid price where there is an active market.  The Directors do not consider the difference in the 
valuation methods as outlined in note 2 and the valuation method under IAS 39 to be material to the financial 
statements and consequently have not adjusted the financial statements for such.

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS5. 

Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowl-
edgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, interest and other income receivable, subscriptions receivable, 
other assets and accounts payable and redemptions payable are considered to approximate their fair values as 
these items are short term in nature.  

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and information about 
financial instruments.  These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of signifi-
cant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision.  Changes in assumptions could significantly 
affect the estimates.

The Fund adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - improving disclosures about 
financial instruments, effective from January 1, 2009.  These amendments require the Fund to present certain 
information about financial instruments measured at fair value in the statements of net assets.

This hierarchy groups financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into three levels based on the signifi-
cance of inputs used in measuring the fair value.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

 - Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 - Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
 - Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable in  
  puts).

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of sig-
nificant input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the statements of net assets are grouped into the fair value 
hierarchy as follows:

 2009 2008
 US$ US$

      
Level 1 – Quoted prices  16,084,558 7,650,265
Level 2 – Other than quoted prices  13,187,671 11,253,968
   __________ __________

       US$ 29,272,229 US$ 18,904,233
    __________ __________
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6. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Fund has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Accumulation (A) Shares (“Class A”) and Income (I) Shares 
(“Class I”) (together the “Shares”) in the Fund.  At December 31, 2009, no Class I shares were in issue.

Each unit represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as declared 
payable.  An unlimited number of the Fund’s units may be issued which are redeemable each Monday at the 
unitholders’ option at the then current Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per unit, in accordance with the terms of the In-
formation Memorandum.

 The following is a summary of the changes in the Fund’s outstanding units during the period:

       2009 2008
        
 
 Units, beginning of year   232,420 134,577
 Subscriptions     122,894 122,250
 Redemptions     (42,656) (24,407)
        __________ __________ 
      
 Units, end of year    312,658  232,420  
       __________ __________
            
 

FEES AND EXPENSES7. 

 Management fees
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day business of the Fund, including managing 
the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the investment of as-
sets of the Fund.  The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the Investment Manager for its 
services to the Fund equal to 1.15% per annum of the NAV of the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly.  
During the year ended December 31, 2009, management fees earned were US$261,910 (2008: US$223,732).  As 
of December 31, 2009, accounts payable and accrued expenses includes US$34,049 (2008: US$25,773) payable 
to the Investment Manager.

Administration fees
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of US$30,000.  The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly.

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund.

Custody fees
The Custodian is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the average weekly NAV of the 
Fund.  The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly.
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FEES AND EXPENSES (continued)7. 

Directors’ fees
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat an-
nual fee for serving in such capacity.  The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ fees.  
The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by them on behalf of the Fund.

INCOME TAXES8. 

The Company is incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio 
company under the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciations in value of the Fund.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS9. 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy.  These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price risk and interest rate risk), liquid-
ity risk and credit risk.  The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment returns on its 
portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets.  The Investment 
Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on the Fund’s per-
formance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is consistent with the 
Fund’s investment objective and policy. 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below.
 

Market Price Risk (a) 

Market price risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

The Fund’s assets consist of fixed income bonds, mutual funds and equity securities, the values of which are de-
termined by market forces and there is accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a way that is adverse 
to the Fund’s performance.  An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of fixed income securities, 
mutual funds and equity securities as at the reporting date would have increased or decreased net assets by 
US$292,722 (2008: US$189,042). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily basis and 
reports regularly to the Board of Directors, which reviews the information on the Fund’s overall market exposures 
provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk can be seen per the 
Statements of Net Assets.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

Market Interest Rate Risk(b) 

Market interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents and fixed income financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
interest bearing instruments.  The Fund’s other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below:

 2009
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,278,874 - 1,278,874
 Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 10,760,309 18,511,920 29,272,229
 Interest and other income receivable - 130,192 130,192 
 Other assets - 8,700 8,700
 Liabilities - (162,937) (162,937)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 12,039,182 US$ 18,487,875 US$ 30,527,058
  _________ _________ _________

 2008
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 47,506 - 47,506
 Financial assets at fair value through
 profit or loss 9,632,362 9,271,871 18,904,233
 Interest and other income receivable - 110,781 110,781 
 Other assets - 9,676 9,676
 Liabilities - (56,480) (56,480)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 9,679,868 US$ 9,335,848 US$ 19,015,716
  _________ _________ _________

An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased or 
decreased net assets by US$120,392 (2008: US$96,799). 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

Liquidity Risk(c) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities as they fall due.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Fund’s financial assets significantly outweigh the financial liabilities and 
investments held are liquid in nature.  All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the balance 
sheet date.  As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of liquidity risk.  

Credit Risk(d) 

Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with a reputable financial institution.  Management regu-
larly monitors the institution’s credit risk and does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration.   
Furthermore, the Fund only invests in investment grade fixed-income securities.

 The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is detailed in the table below:

At December 31, 2009   
   Past due / 
  Not past due / impaired but 
  impaired renegotiated Total
  US$ US$ US$
 
 Cash and cash equivalents 1,278,874 - 1,278,874
 Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss 29,272,229 - 29,272,229
 Interest and other income receivable 130,192 - 130,192
 Other assets 8,700 - 8,700
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 30,689,995 US$                     - US$ 30,689,995
  _________ _________ _________

Currency Risk(e) 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Fund holds assets denominated in currencies other than US dollars, the functional currency of the Fund.  
The Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk, as the value of the securities denominated in other currencies 
will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates.

The fair values of the Fund’s monetary items that have a foreign currency exposure at the reporting date include 
monetary assets and net exposure of US$703,414 (2008: US$nil) in Australian Dollars and US$473,918 (2008: 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

(e) Currency Risk (continued)

US$nil) in Canadian Dollars.  The Fund’s profit would increase or decrease by US$11,773 (2008: US$nil) if the US 
dollar weakened or strengthened by 100 basis points with all other variables constant.  The Fund uses forward 
contracts to mitigate these risks.

(f ) Regulatory Environment Risk

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities laws, 
bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or unprofitable.  
The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands Fund will depend 
upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman Islands law and, in particular, 
the Mutual Funds Law (2009 revised).

(g) Dependence on the Investment Manager Risk

 The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund.  The success of the Fund depends 
upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the 
Fund’s investment objectives.

10. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to unitholders. The amount of net assets 
attributable to unitholders can change significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly sub-
scriptions and redemptions at the discretion of the Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is 
to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for unitholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the in-
vestment activities of the Fund.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund’s policy is to perform the following:
Monitor the level of weekly subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets and adjust the amount •	
of distributions the Fund pays to unitholders 

The Board of Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attribut-
able to unitholders.

11. DIRECTOR INTERESTS

As at December 31, 2009, the Directors of the Fund held 3,578 shares in the Fund.

12. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events occurring after the reporting date.
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BIAS GLOBAL PORTFOLIOS, SPC
GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND – US$ SEGREGATED PORTFOLIO 

INVESTMENT POLICY

The Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”) seeks to achieve its goal by investing in a wide variety of global equity securities issued through-
out the world. The Fund is managed as a core global equity product and is not constrained by a particular investment style. It may 
invest in “growth” or “value” securities. The Fund chooses securities in industries and companies it believes are experiencing favourable 
demand for their products or services. The Fund considers companies with above average earnings potential, companies that are domi-
nant within their industry, companies within industries that are undergoing dramatic change and companies that are market leaders in 
developing industries. Other considerations include expected levels of inflation, government policies or actions, currency relationships 
and prospects for economic growth in a country or region.  In selecting investments, the Fund focuses on securities located in at least 
five different countries, although the Fund may at times invest all of its assets in fewer than five countries. The Fund may invest a portion 
of its assets in securities of issuers located in developing countries, often referred to as emerging markets. It presently does not antici-
pate investing more than 25% of its total assets in such securities.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the years ended 31st December 2009 and 2008.  
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $64.23 as at 31st December 2008 to $83.44 as at 31st December 2009.

This represents a total return after fees for the Fund of 29.91% for the calendar year compared with the Fund’s benchmark which is the 
FTSE World Equity Index which returned 30.52%.  

The total assets of the Fund grew from $14.60 million at 31st December 2008 to $19.74 million at 31st December 2009.  The managers 
ensured that the Fund maintained adequate liquidity through holding an appropriate portion of the Fund’s assets in cash.

ANNUAL REVIEW

Following a sharp sell-off early in the year, global stock markets rebounded sharply through year-end as central banks around the world 
primed the monetary pump through ultra-low interest rates and outright purchases of financial assets.  After reaching a six-year low on 
March 9th, the FTSE Index commenced an almost uninterrupted rally for the balance of the year, taking the average just shy of the level 
seen prior to Lehman Brother’s historical collapse in September of 2008.  

The Fund’s regional allocations contributed significantly to performance as overweight positions in the US, Emerging Asia, and the 
resource markets (Australia, Brazil and Canada) outperformed the global benchmark, while underweight positions Europe and Japan 
both underperformed.  Individual equities within the account also fared well as our quantitative discipline and focus on higher yielding 
stocks boosted performance.  

The only real mitigating factor was the Fund’s relatively large cash position throughout most of the year.  It was felt that extra insurance 
was warranted in such highly uncertain times and that the added downside protection was well worth the possibility of some modest 
underperformance.  While the Fund lagged the benchmark index during its 73% rally from March 9th to October 19th, the Fund’s defen-
sive characteristics and basket of high-dividend-paying stocks led to outperformance for the remainder of the year, allowing the Fund 
to finish the year roughly in line with the global benchmark. 

OUTLOOK

We anticipate a prolonged consolidation period in capital markets following last year’s big resurgence.  In response to this ‘choppier’ en-
vironment, we have implemented a balanced-risk strategy whereby we hold a basket of steady, often high-dividend-paying “tortoises” 
to offset the risk of our more aggressive “hares”.  This latter group is made up of innovative growth stocks – companies that are pro-
ducing strong earnings growth despite the challenging economic conditions.  Many of these investments are in the technology sector 
which we feel offers compelling valuations.

In light of China’s recent bias toward slowing its economy, which we consider to be a necessary move, we have temporarily reduced our 
positions in emerging Asia (including China) and Brazil.  However, we expect to return to overweight positions in these regions once 
we feel that an adequate market correction has occurred.  We currently favour North American equity markets.  Due to its strong, con-
servative banking system, Canada’s economy has weathered this recessionary period quite well.  Meanwhile the US has been the most 
aggressive in stimulating its economy and is expected to recover well in advance of the struggling eurozone and Japan.

 



    low                                       high

Global Equities Fund US$

For more information on any of our funds, contact your investment advisor or download a prospectus, which contains important information about a fund’s investment 
goals, sales charges, expenses and risks. Please read the prospectus carefully before investing.   As of December 31st, 2009

The manager seeks to maximize long-term capital 
appreciation via investment in a diverse mix of global 
securities.  A strict top-down approach is applied with a focus 
on macroeconomic analysis.  Strategic allocations are made in 
various geographic, sector, style, and market capitalizations 
to exploit long-term trends and minimize risk.  

Suitable for investors who have a higher tolerance for risk 
and a long time horizon.

Management Commentary

The BIAS Global Equities Fund outperformed its benchmark 
in Fourth Quarter 2009 as overweight positions in Brazil, 
China, and US multinationals proved effective.  After 
soaring from their March lows, global equity markets finally 
leveled out in the final months of the year, providing an 
atmosphere perfectly suited to the fund’s large basket of 
high-dividend-paying stocks.  In December we locked in 
profits on star performers including Itau Unibanco (ITUB) 
and Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan (POT), moves 
which proved timely given the market’s trend toward risk 
aversion as the year end approached.

Geographic Allocation Risk Rating

Fund Information

Inception Date December 29, 2006

Base Currency $USD

Benchmark FTSE World Equity Index

NAV per share $83.44 

Subscriptions/Redemptions Weekly

Management Fee 1.65%

North America      51%
Europe                   24%
Smaller Asia             6%
Japan                       5%
Latin America          7%
Australia                 5%

Other                         2%

Key Statistics

Number of Holdings 40

AUM $19,741,857

Standard Deviation 19.69

Sharpe Ratio  -0.31

Top Holdings

Vanguard Global Enhanced Equity Fund 8.2%

iShares S&P N. American Software Index Fund 5.9%

Vanguard Global Stock Index Fund 4.5%

SPDR S&P Emerging Asia Pacific (ETF) 4.3%

Vanguard European Stock Index Fund 3.9%

Performance
Performance      Q4/09      1-Year          2-Year        Since Incept.
                                                                                                (Annualized)           (Annualized)

Equities Fund    5.55%     29.91%     -12.70%          -5.84%  

Benchmark         4.00%     30.52%     -13.44%          -6.56%               

Sector Allocation

Financial      18%
Energy                          15%

Industrials                      7%

Basic Materials              8%

Consum. Staples        10%

Utilities            6%

Technology                  14%

Healthcare      12%

Consumer Discretion      3%
Telecom. Services       7%
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Statements of Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 2009 2008
Note   US$ US$

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 519,542 1,909,437
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 19,274,840 12,161,269
 (Cost 2009: US$18,720,139; 2008: US$17,267,105)
Other assets  8,657 8,706
Subscriptions receivable  - 400,000
Due from broker  - 200,000  
    ________ ________

Total assets  US$ 19,803,039 US$ 14,679,412   
    ________ ________

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7 57,515 55,105 
Redemptions payable  3,669 20,079 
    ________ ________

 Total liabilities  61,184 75,184  
    ________ ________

NET ASSETS REPRESENTING UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY  US$ 19,741,855 US$ 14,604,228
 ________ ________

Units outstanding 6 236,587 227,361
    ________ ________ 

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT  US$ 83.44 US$ 64.23 
    ________ ________

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Approved by Directors:

 
_________________________             _________________________
Director                                            Director

May 10, 2010 May 10, 2010 
_________________________             _________________________
Date                                           Date
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Statements of Operations
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 2009  2008
   Note US$  US$

INVESTMENT INCOME (LOSS)
Dividends and other income  250,668 160,696
Interest and other income  16,518 26,091
Net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss  (787,914) (1,005,838)
Movement in unrealised gain (loss) on financial assets
 at fair value through profit or loss  5,660,537 (5,628,771)
    _________ _________

  Total investment income (loss)  5,139,809 (6,447,822)
    _________ _________
  
EXPENSES
Management fees 7 282,702 216,953
Custody and administration fees 7 47,133 41,623
Directors’ fees 7 8,334 6,665
Other general expenses  31,233 65,538
    _________ _________

  Total expenses  369,402 330,779
    _________ _________
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 
      FROM OPERATIONS  US$ 4,770,407 US$ (6,778,601) 
    _________ _________  
   
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Statements of Changes in Net Assets
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 2009 2008
  US$ US$

Net assets, beginning of year  14,604,228 11,569,060
     
Increase (decrease) in net assets from operations  4,770,407 (6,778,601) 

Unit capital transactions
   Proceeds from the subscriptions of units  4,712,414 12,481,877
   Payments on redemption of units  (4,345,194) (2,668,108)
    _________ _________

    367,220 9,813,769 
    _________ _________

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR  US$ 19,741,855 US$ 14,604,228 
    _________ _________
   
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in United States dollars)

   2009 2008
   US$ US$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in net assets from operations  4,770,407 (6,778,601)  

     Net purchase of financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
  through profit or loss  (7,113,571) (1,210,802)
 Other assets  49 (923) 
 Due from broker  200,000 (200,000)  
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  2,410 (20,675)  
    ________ ________

Net cash used by operating activities  (2,140,705) (8,211,001)  
 

  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of units  5,112,414 12,081,877
Payments on redemption of units  (4,361,604) (2,654,796)
    ________ ________

Net cash provided by financing activities  750,810 9,427,081 
 
 
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,389,895) 1,216,080  
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,909,437 693,357 
    ________ ________

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  US$  519,542 US$  1,909,437 
    ________ ________
    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FUND1. 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) established BIAS Global Equities Fund (the “Fund”), a segregated 
portfolio of assets, on December 15, 2006.  The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006.  The 
Company is incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio 
company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2007 Revision).  The address of its registered office 
is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective.  The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company 
are not included in these financial statements.  BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the “Investment Manager”), a relat-
ed party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager under the Investment Management 
Agreement.  The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to delegate its duties to Bermuda Invest-
ment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”).  Pershing LLC acts as the Fund’s Custodian, and Cayman 
National Trust Co. Ltd. (“Cayman National”) acts as the Fund’s Administrator.

The objective of the Fund is to invest in a wide variety of global equity securities issued throughout the world.  
This Fund is managed as a core global equity product and is not constrained by a particular investment style.

The Fund had no employees during the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES2. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below:

Basis of preparation(a) 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  IFRS that are not relevant to the Fund 
have not been disclosed.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial statements are presented in US dollars and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting 
the fact that the Fund’s issued share capital, assets and liabilities are dominated in US dollars.

The statements of net assets presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and does not distin-
guish between current and non-current items. All the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the purpose of be-
ing traded or are expected to be realised within one year.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Adoption of relevant new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009(i) 

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are 
mandatory for the Fund’s accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008.  The relevant standards to the 
Fund are as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – improving disclosures about financial instruments;•	
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements; and•	
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable •	
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation.

The principal effect of these changes is as follows:

IAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2009)
The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes 
in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity. It requires non-owner changes in equity to be presented sepa-
rately from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity are required to be shown in a performance 
statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of compre-
hensive income) or two statements (the income statement and statement of comprehensive income).

Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information, they are required to present a restated statement of 
net assets as at the beginning comparative period, in addition to the current requirement to present statements 
of net assets at the end of the current period and comparative period. The standard includes additional sug-
gested terminology changes to the financial statements. The Directors opted to leave the financial statements 
terminology unchanged and also opted to keep income and expenses in one statement.

IAS 32 (amendment), Financial instruments: Presentation’, and IAS 1 (amendment), Presentation of financial statements – 
Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective from 1 January 2009)
The amended standards require entities to classify puttable financial instruments, or components of instruments 
that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity 
only on liquidation as equity, provided the financial instruments have particular features and meet specific con-
ditions, including that all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other instru-
ments have identical features. 

The share classes of the Fund do not have ‘identical features’ and therefore do not comply with the requirements 
of IAS 32 para 16A(c). The adoption of these amendments has not therefore resulted in any change in the clas-
sification of the Fund’s redeemable shares. 

Other amendments have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been (ii) 
adopted early by the Fund

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and inter-
pretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted 
early by the Fund.

The Directors anticipate that all of the applicable pronouncements will be adopted in the Fund accounting poli-
cies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Fund’s financial statements is provided 
below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement (effective from January 1, 2013)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and will later be expanded to add new requirements for the classification and measurement of finan-
cial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments and impairment. By its effective date, IFRS 9 will have 
replaced IAS 39.  This change is not expected to affect the financial position or results of the Fund but will 
give rise to additional disclosures. 

Annual improvements 2009
'Improvements to IFRS’ were issued in April 2009 and contain numerous amendments to IFRS, which the IASB con-
sider non-urgent but necessary. ’Improvements to IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes 
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes as well as terminology or editorial amendments related 
to a variety of individual standards. Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009 and 1 January 2010 respectively, with earlier application permitted. No material changes to 
accounting policies are expected as a result of these amendments.

Investment income / expense(b) 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported net of non-reclaimable withholding tax.  
Bank interest income and expense is accounted for on an accruals basis.  

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss(c) 

Classification(i) 

In accordance with IAS 39, all investments are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, under the sub-category of financial assets and liabilities held for trading.

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost and include interest and divi-
dends receivable, subscriptions receivable and other assets.  Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit 
or loss are carried at amortized cost and include accounts payable and accrued expenses and redemptions payable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)(c) 

Recognition/derecognition(ii) 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Fund commits to 
purchase or sell the investment. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership.

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out basis (“FIFO”) 
and are included in the statement of operations. Unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the statement of operations.

Measurement(iii) 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs are expensed in the statement of operations. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.  Gains and losses aris-
ing from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” 
category are presented in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise. 

Fair value estimation(iv) 

The Fund’s investments are valued on the Friday of each week (the “valuation date”).  Investments held that are 
traded in an active market are valued at their last trade prices through recognised public stock exchanges or 
through recognised investment dealers on the valuation date.  There were no financial instruments for which 
quotations were not readily available in active markets during any of the periods presented.

Operating expenses(d) 
The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments.  

Cash and cash equivalents(e) 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and balances held with the investment broker.

Foreign currency(f ) 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than United States Dollars are translated at exchange rates prevail-
ing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to United States Dollars at the rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction.  The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the statement of operations.

(g) Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting esti-
mates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies.  
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
rarely equal the related actual results. Management does not believe that the estimates and assumptions have a signifi



54

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
Global Equities Fund - US$ Segregated Portfolio

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)2. 
(g) Use of estimates (continued)

 cant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS3. 
     2009  2008

 US$ US$

Cash at bank   409 482 
Cash at broker   38,773 101,910
Money market at broker   480,360 1,807,045
    ________ ________

    US$ 519,542 US$ 1,909,437  
     ________ ________

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS4. 
        2009 2008
       US$ US$
 
 Held for trading:
  Fixed income securities  626,405 499,960
  Mutual funds    4,393,276 2,747,483
  Equity securities   14,255,159 8,913,826
       __________ __________

       US$ 19,274,840 US$ 12,161,269
       __________ __________ 

Per IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”), investments in listed securities should 
be valued at the bid price where there is an active market.  The Directors do not consider the difference in the 
valuation methods as outlined in note 2 and the valuation method under IAS 39 to be material to the financial 
statements and consequently have not adjusted the financial statements for such.

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS5. 

Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowl-
edgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, interest and other income receivable, subscriptions receivables, 
other assets and accounts payable and redemptions payable are considered to approximate their fair values as 
these items are short term in nature.  

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and information about 
financial instruments.  These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of sig-
nificant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision.  Changes in assumptions could signifi-
cantly affect the estimates.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)5. 

The Fund adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - improving disclosures about 
financial instruments, effective from January 1, 2009.  These amendments require the Fund to present certain 
information about financial instruments measured at fair value in the statements of net assets.

This hierarchy groups financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into three levels based on the signifi-
cance of inputs used in measuring the fair value.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

 - Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 - Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
 - Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of sig-
nificant input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the statements of net assets are grouped into the fair value 
hierarchy as follows:

 2009 2008
 US$ US$

      
Level 1 – Quoted prices  14,255,159 8,913,826
Level 2 – Other than quoted prices  5,019,681 3,247,443
   __________ __________

       US$ 19,274,840 US$ 12,161,269
    __________ __________
UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY6. 

The Fund has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Accumulation (A) Shares (“Class A”) and Income (I) 
Shares (“Class I”) (together the “Shares”) in the Fund.  At December 31, 2009, no Class I shares were in issue.

Each unit represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as declared payable.  
An unlimited number of the Fund’s units may be issued which are redeemable each Monday at the unitholders’ option 
at the then current Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per unit, in accordance with the terms of the Information Memorandum.

The following is a summary of the changes in the Fund’s outstanding units during the period:

       2009 2008
 
 Units, beginning of year   227,361 105,624
 Subscriptions     66,609 152,809
 Redemptions     (57,383) (31,072)
        __________ __________ 
       Units, end of year    236,587  227,361              __________ _________
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FEES AND EXPENSES7. 

 Management fees
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day business of the Fund, including managing the 
investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the investment of assets of the 
Fund.  The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the Investment Manager for its services to 
the Fund equal to 1.65% per annum of the NAV of the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2009, management fees earned were US$282,702 (2008: US$216,953).  As of December 31, 2009, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses includes US$30,954 (2008: US$25,074) payable to the Investment Manager.

Administration fees
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of US$30,000.  The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly.

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund.

Custody fees
The Custodian is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the average weekly NAV of the 
Fund.  The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly.

Directors’ fees
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat an-
nual fee for serving in such capacity.  The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ fees.  
The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by 
them on behalf of the Fund.

INCOME TAXES8. 

The Company is incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and registered as a segregated portfolio 
company under the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciations in value of the Fund.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS9. 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy.  These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price risk and interest rate risk), liquid-
ity risk and credit risk.  The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment returns on its 
portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets.  The Investment 
Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on the Fund’s per-
formance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is consistent with the 
Fund’s investment objective and policy. 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

Market Price Risk (a) 

Market price risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

The Fund’s assets consist of fixed income bonds, mutual funds and equity securities, the values of which are de-
termined by market forces and there is accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a way that is adverse 
to the Fund’s performance.  An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of fixed income securities, 
mutual funds and equity securities as at the reporting date would have increased or decreased net assets by 
US$192,748 (2008: US$121,613). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily basis and 
reports regularly to the Board of Directors, which reviews the information on the Fund’s overall market exposures 
provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk can be seen per the 
Statements of Net Assets.

Market Interest Rate Risk(b) 

Market interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents and fixed income financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
interest bearing instruments.  The Fund’s other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below:

 2009
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 519,542 - 519,542
 Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 626,405 18,648,435 19,274,840 
 Other assets - 8,657 8,657
 Liabilities - (61,184) (61,184)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 1,145,947 US$ 18,595,908 US$ 19,741,855
  _________ _________ _________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

Market Interest Rate Risk (continued)(b) 

 2008
  Interest Non-interest
  bearing bearing Total
  US$ US$ US$

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,909,437 - 1,909,437
 Financial assets at fair value through
 profit or loss 499,960 11,661,309 12,161,269
 Other assets - 8,706 8,706
 Subscriptions receivable - 400,000 400,000
 Due from broker - 200,000 200,000
 Liabilities - (75,184) (75,184)
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 2,409,397 US$ 12,194,831 US$ 14,604,228
  _________ _________ _________

An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased or 
decreased net assets by US$11,459 (2008: US$24,094). 

Liquidity Risk(c) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities as they fall due.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Fund’s financial assets significantly outweigh the financial liabilities and 
investments held are liquid in nature.  All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the balance 
sheet date.  As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of liquidity risk.  

Credit Risk(d) 

Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with a reputable financial institution.  Management regularly 
monitors the institution’s credit risk and does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration.  Fur-
thermore, the Fund only invests in investment grade fixed-income securities.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)9. 

Credit Risk (continued)(d) 

 The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is detailed in the table below:

At December 31, 2009   
   Past due / 
  Not past due / impaired but 
  impaired renegotiated Total
  US$ US$ US$
 
 Cash and cash equivalents 519,542 - 519,542
 Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss 19,274,840 - 19,274,840
 Other assets 8,657 - 8,657
  _________ _________ _________

  US$ 19,803,039   US$                    - US$ 19,803,039
  _________ _________ _________

Regulatory Environment Risk(e) 

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities laws, 
bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or unprofitable.  
The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands Fund will depend 
upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman Islands law and, in particular, 
the Mutual Funds Law (2009 revised).

Dependence on the Investment Manager Risk(f ) 

 The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund.  The success of the Fund depends 
upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the 
Fund’s investment objectives.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT10. 

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to unitholders. The amount of net assets at-
tributable to unitholders can change significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions 
and redemptions at the discretion of the Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the 
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for unitholders and benefits for other stake-
holders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund’s policy is to perform the following:
Monitor the level of weekly subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets and adjust the amount •	
of distributions the Fund pays to unitholders 

The Board of Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets 
 attributable to unitholders.
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DIRECTOR INTERESTS11. 

As at December 31, 2009, the Directors of the Fund held no shares in the Fund.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD12. 

There were no material events occurring after the reporting date.
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